No. 71127-0-I

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

FERDI DeGUZMAN,

Appellant.



ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAN TRASEN Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

B. ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Due Process requires a guilty plea be entered knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily. If the defendant has been misadvised about the applicable sentence for the offense, the resulting plea is not entered knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in denying Mr. DeGuzman's motion to withdraw his plea where Mr. DeGuzman testified he believed the applicable sentence was 125 to 158 days, not months?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 24, 2013, Ferdi DeGuzman pled guilty to two counts of second degree rape of a child, in connection with allegations made by his step-daughter, A.Z., related to conduct occurring when she was between 12 and 13 years old. CP 1-8, 27; RP 7-21. During the plea allocution, Mr. DeGuzman answered all of the deputy prosecutor's questions with single-word responses of "yes," "correct," and "no." RP

¹ The verbatim report of proceedings consists of one consecutively-paginated transcript containing hearings from April 23, 2013 through November 1, 2013, which is referred to as "RP." A separate volume from October 29, 2012 is not referred to herein.

7-20. When asked whether he wanted to plead guilty or not guilty to the remaining counts in the Information, Mr. DeGuzman simply replied, "guilty." RP 20.² Mr. DeGuzman was told by the deputy prosecutor that he was eligible for the Special Sex Offender Sentencing Alternative (SSOSA), and Mr. DeGuzman verified that he had reviewed the program's requirements with his attorney. RP 15-16.³ During the plea allocution, the deputy prosecutor twice acknowledged that Mr. DeGuzman was requesting a SSOSA, even though the court might not grant one. RP 12.

The deputy prosecutor informed Mr. DeGuzman on the record that the standard range sentence for the crime to which he was pleading guilty was "120 to 158 months"; she also informed Mr. DeGuzman that if he did not receive the SSOSA, he would "serve a minimum term of confinement in the Department of Corrections." RP 10, 12.

Despite the mixed information given, when asked if he understood the terms of his plea, Mr. DeGuzman replied, "yes." RP 12.

² Mr. DeGuzman pled guilty to two counts of rape of a child in the second degree, in exchange for the dismissal of the first count in the Information – child molestation in the first degree. RP 12, 22.

³ Mr. DeGuzman acknowledged he understood the State would be opposing his SSOSA request, and that he could be on supervision for life. RP 11-13; CP 16-20.

The deputy prosecutor led Mr. DeGuzman through a factual allocution, written by his own counsel, which he adopted. RP 19. Following this colloquy, the trial court informed Mr. DeGuzman that the deputy prosecutor had "covered everything," so the court simply asked if Mr. DeGuzman had any questions. RP 21. Mr. DeGuzman did not. Id. The court set the case over for sentencing. RP 22.

On June 3, 2013, new counsel was appointed to represent Mr. DeGuzman, due to his request to withdraw his guilty plea, and his belief that he was not effectively represented by prior counsel. RP 26-33. New counsel was appointed on June 6, 2013, and the case was continued for a hearing on Mr. DeGuzman's motion to withdraw his guilty plea. RP 36, 40, 46.

On August 7, 2013, Mr. DeGuzman filed a motion to withdraw his guilty plea, contending that his plea was involuntary, as he did not comprehend the direct consequences of his plea – specifically the term of confinement. CP 122-31.

A contested hearing was held on September 17, 2013, at which Mr. DeGuzman testified to his understanding of the plea conditions, and his miscommunications with his former attorney. RP 57-80. Mr. DeGuzman testified that he only pled guilty because he had believed

that if he were denied the SSOSA, his standard range would be 124 to 158 days, not months. RP 75-76, 123. In addition to Mr. DeGuzman's own testimony, the court heard audio tapes of telephone calls between Mr. DeGuzman and his girlfriend, A.Z.'s mother. On the tapes, the couple could be heard discussing their plans for the following summer – indicating DeGuzman's understanding that the sentence he faced would be only a few months, at most, before he would be eligible for work release. RP 73, 95.

The trial court denied Mr. DeGuzman's motion to withdraw his plea. RP 150.

On November 1, 2013, the court found the SSOSA was not appropriate and sentenced Mr. DeGuzman to 144 months to life. CP 108-19; RP 215

Mr. DeGuzman appeals the denial of his motion to withdraw his guilty plea. CP 120-21.

D. ARGUMENT

IT WAS AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO DENY MR. DeGUZMAN'S MOTION TO WITHDRAW HIS GUILTY PLEA, AS IT WAS NECESSARY TO CORRECT A MANIFEST INJUSTICE.

Pursuant to CrR 4.2(f), a defendant may withdraw a plea of guilty "whenever it appears that the withdrawal is necessary to correct a manifest injustice." A manifest injustice occurs if the plea was not knowing, voluntary and intelligent. State v. S.M., 100 Wn. App. 401, 409, 996 P.2d 1111 (2000) (finding manifest injustice where defendant's motion to withdraw guilty plea was denied, due to ineffective assistance of counsel and where plea was not voluntary and intelligent). A trial court's decision on a motion to withdraw a guilty plea is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. State v. Marshall, 144 Wn.2d 266, 280, 27 P.3d 192 (2001), abrogated on other grounds by State v. Sisouvanh, 175 Wn.2d 607, 290 P.3d 942 (2012).

1. <u>Due process requires a defendant be properly advised of the direct consequences of his guilty plea.</u>

Due Process requires that a defendant's plea of guilty be knowing, voluntary, and intelligent. U.S. Const. amend. 14; Const. art. I, sec. 3; Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 242, 89 S.Ct. 1709, 23

L.Ed.2d 274 (1969); see also In re the Personal Restraint of Isadore, 151 Wn.2d 294, 298, 88 P.3d 390 (2004) ("A guilty plea is not knowingly made when it is based on misinformation of sentencing consequences."). A guilty plea is involuntary if the defendant is not properly advised of a direct consequence of his plea. State v. Turley, 149 Wn.2d 395, 398-99, 69 P.3d 338 (2003); State v. Ross, 129 Wn.2d 279, 284, 916 P.2d 405 (1996).

"Where a plea agreement is based on misinformation . . .

generally the defendant may choose . . . withdrawal of the guilty plea."

State v. Walsh, 143 Wn.2d 1, 8, 17 P.3d 591 (2001). Under Walsh, a

guilty plea is not voluntary and cannot be valid if it is made without an
accurate understanding of the consequences. 143 Wn.2d at 8.

Because of the constitutional rights waived by a guilty plea, the State bears the burden of ensuring the record of a guilty plea demonstrates the plea was knowingly and voluntarily entered. Boykin, 395 U.S. at 242. "The record of the plea hearing must affirmatively disclose a guilty plea was made intelligently and voluntarily, with an understanding of the full consequences of such a plea." Wood v.

Morris, 87 Wn.2d 501, 503, 554 P.2d 1032 (1976).

2. Because Mr. DeGuzman was not properly advised of the direct consequences of his guilty plea, the plea was not knowingly or voluntarily entered.

When a defendant enters a plea agreement where he has been misadvised concerning the penalty he faces, he is entitled to withdraw the plea because it was invalidly entered. State v. Mendoza, 157

Wn.2d 582, 590, 141 P.3d 49 (2006). "Absent a showing that the defendant was correctly informed of all of the direct consequences of his guilty plea, the defendant may move to withdraw the plea." Id. at 591. In Mendoza, the Supreme Court found that a defendant's understanding of the direct consequences of his plea is so essential, that even where the ultimate sentence resulted in less time than the defendant believed he would receive, the defendant is entitled to withdraw his plea. Id. at 584.

Here, Mr. DeGuzman, in an even stronger example than the defendant in Mendoza, timely moved to withdraw his plea immediately upon discovering his misunderstanding of the plea agreement – well before sentencing. RP 25. Although as in Mendoza, Mr. DeGuzman ultimately was sentenced within the standard range, his plea was involuntary, and his motion to withdraw should have been granted.

The relevant maximum sentence is a direct consequence of a guilty plea. Walsh, 143 Wn.2d at 8-9; State v. Morley, 134 Wn.2d 588, 621, 952 P.2d 167 (1998). A "defendant must be advised of the maximum sentence which could be imposed prior to entry of the guilty plea." State v. Barton, 93 Wn.2d 301, 305, 609 P.2d 1353 (1980).

Due to the inconsistent and confusing statements regarding sentencing made by the deputy prosecutor and by his own counsel at the time of his guilty plea, Mr. DeGuzman's guilty plea was involuntarily entered. For example, he was told both that his standard range was 120 to 158 months, and that he would "serve a minimum term of confinement." RP 10, 12. As Mr. DeGuzman later argued during his plea withdrawal hearing, there was no incentive for him to plead guilty for a sentence of 144 months to life – a lengthy sentence that he could have received after trial. RP 70, 76, 136.4

Due to the confusing statements made to Mr. DeGuzman, both inside and outside of the courtroom, as reflected during the hearing on the motion to withdraw his guilty plea, Mr. DeGuzman did not clearly understand the terms and consequences of the plea agreement. Because

⁴ The record supports Mr. DeGuzman's contention that he was only a passive participant in the plea process. RP 88. "I just kept saying "yes." He also said that after quickly speaking to his attorney in the hallway, she instructed him to return to the courtroom and simply "plea all the yes [sic]." RP 122.

he was not properly informed of the direct consequences of his guilty plea, Mr. DeGuzman's plea was not knowingly and voluntarily made. Isadore, 151 Wn.2d at 298.⁵

3. Mr. DeGuzman's motion to withdraw his guilty plea should have been granted.

Where a defendant is misadvised of the direct consequences of his guilty plea, the plea is involuntary and he is entitled to withdraw the plea. <u>Isadore</u>, 151 Wn.2d at 303; <u>Walsh</u>, 143 Wn.2d at 8.⁶ Because the State failed to meet its burden to demonstrate that Mr. DeGuzman's guilty plea was knowing, voluntary and intelligent, his motion to withdraw should have been granted.

This Court should reverse and remand, to permit Mr.

DeGuzman to withdraw his plea.

⁵ Mr. DeGuzman need not demonstrate that the misinformation regarding his sentence was material to his decision to plead guilty. The Supreme Court has rejected such a requirement, stating that a materiality test:

^{...}conflicts with this court's jurisprudence. This court has repeatedly stated that a defendant must be informed of all direct consequences of a guilty plea, and that failure to inform the defendant of a direct consequence renders the plea invalid. State v. Barton, 93 Wn.2d 301, 305, 609 P.2d 1353 (1980).

Isadore, 151 Wn.2d at 301.

⁶ Unlike the defendants in <u>State v. Knotek</u>, 136 Wn. App. 412, 426, 149 P.3d 67 (2006), <u>rev. denied</u>, 161 Wn.2d 1013, 166 P.3d 1218 (2007), and <u>Mendoza</u>, 157 Wn.2d at 582, Mr. DeGuzman moved immediately to withdraw his guilty plea, once he realized the error.

E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the above reasons, this Court should reverse the denial of

Mr. DeGuzman's motion to withdraw his plea of guilty.⁷

Respectfully submitted this 6th day of May, 2014.

JAN TRASEN 41177

Washington Appellate Project - 91052

Attorney for Appellant

⁷ The trial court's oral findings of fact and conclusions of law, based upon the court's assessment of credibility, were incorporated by reference into a one-page order. CP 107; RP 150-55.

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, v. FERDI DEGUZMAN, Appellant.)	NO. 7	1127-0-I