71127-0

711270 ORIGINAL

NO. 71127-0-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

FERDI DeGUZMAN,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE KEN SCHUBERT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

CARLA B. CARLSTROM Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 Third Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9000

B.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
	1.	PROCEDURAL FACTS	1	
	2.	SUBSTANTIVE FACTS	5	
C.	ARGUMENT 6			
	THE DEFENDANT'S PLEA WAS KNOWING, VOLUNTARY AND INTELLIGENT AND THE COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO WITHDRAW HIS GUILTY PLEA			
D.	CON	CONCLUSION		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page Table of Cases				
Washington State:				
<u>State v. Blanks</u> , 139 Wn. App. 543, 161 P.3d 455 (2007)				
<u>State v. A.N.J.,</u> 168 Wn.2d 91, 225 P3d. 956 (2010)				
<u>State v. Marshall</u> , 144 Wn.2d 266, 27 P.3d 192 (2001)				
<u>State v. Olmsted</u> , 70 Wn.2d 116, 422 P.2d 312 (1966)8				
<u>State v. Ross</u> , 129 Wn.2d 279, 916 P.2d 405 (1996)				
<u>State v. Sisouvanh</u> , 175 Wn.2d 607, 290 P.3d 942 (2012)				
<u>State v. Smith</u> , 74 Wn. App. 844, 875 P.2d 1249 (1994)				
<u>State v. Taylor</u> , 83 Wn.2d 594, 521 P.2d 699 (1974)				
Rules and Regulations				
Washington State:				
CrR 4.27				

A. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED</u>

When a defendant is fully advised during a plea colloquy that he is facing a standard range sentence of 120-148 *months*, is advised that he has a right to go to trial, and the defendant testifies that he was advised as such and was told by his attorney that he was facing a potential sentence of *years* in prison, does the trial court abuse its discretion in denying the defendant's motion to withdraw his plea of guilty when the defendant now argues that he thought he was facing a sentence of *days* in jail?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

PROCEDURAL FACTS

On September 26, 2011, Ferdi DeGuzman was charged with one count of Child Molestation in the First Degree and two counts of Rape of a Child in the Second Degree. CP 1-2. On April 24, 2013, DeGuzman pled guilty to two counts of Rape of a Child in the Second Degree. CP 15-29; RP 7-21.

Plea Colloquy: The State did a colloquy with the defendant, going over the entire plea form. RP 7-21. The defendant was

¹ The verbatim report of proceedings consists of one consecutively-numbered transcript containing hearings from 4/23/13, 4/24/13, 6/3/13, 6/6/13, 8/9/13, 9/17/13, 10/4/13, 10/18/13 and 11/1/13. The State will refer to them as "RP."

advised that his decision to plead guilty is a "final one and that you cannot change your mind in the future?" RP 10. The defendant responded, "Correct, yes." RP 10.

The State informed the defendant that the standard sentencing range for each count was 120-158 months, and that the maximum term was life in prison and a \$50,000 fine. RP 10. The defendant responded, "Yes." RP 10. The defendant was informed that it was an indeterminate sentence and that if the court did not impose a Special Sex Offender Sentencing Alternative (SSOSA), which is what the defendant was asking for, that the court will order "that you serve a minimum term of confinement in the Department of Corrections . . . and then will go before the Indeterminate Sentencing Review Board and they will determine whether or not you are to be released. Do you understand that?" RP 12. The defendant responded, "Yes." RP 12. The defendant was informed that the State was not recommending a SSOSA. RP 12-13. The defendant responded, "Yes." RP 13.

The defendant was informed that the State will make a recommendation and the defense will make a recommendation but that the judge does not have to follow that. RP 13. The defendant responded, "Yes." RP 13. The defendant was informed that unless

the court found substantial and compelling reasons to deviate from the standard range that the court would impose a sentence within the standard sentence range and the defendant stated, "Yes." RP 13-14.

The defendant was asked if his plea was made freely and voluntarily and he responded, "Yes." RP 18. He was asked, "Do you understand that we could tear up this plea form right now and go to trial on this case if that's what you wanted?" RP 18. He responded, "Yes." At the end of the colloquy he was asked if he had any questions and he stated, "No." RP 19-20. The court found that the defendant had entered the plea knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently and accepted the plea. RP 21.

Motion to Withdraw Plea: On September 17, 2013, the defendant moved to withdraw his guilty plea, stating that he and his attorney had not had good communication and that he had thought he was facing 124-148 days not months of confinement. RP 46, 68. The defendant acknowledged, however, that his attorney told him that if he took the case to trial he would get 17 years, and that the State was going to recommend 13 to 17 years.² RP 70. The

² The range of 13 to 17 years was prior to the State, as part of the plea deal, dismissing the count of Child Molestation in the First Degree, which made the defendant eligible for a SSOSA.

defendant acknowledged that the prosecutor had gone through the plea form with him but that he didn't know what he was doing.

RP 71. The defendant conceded that he had previously been charged with two felony crimes, possession of stolen property and forgery, had pled guilty to those crimes, and had gone through a plea form that was strikingly similar to the one used in the instant case. RP 80-81. The defendant conceded that he did not tell the prosecutor, the judge or his attorney at the plea hearing on April 24th that he had any questions. RP 88-89.

Jail phone calls between the defendant and his girlfriend from May 2, 2013 through May 6, 2013 were played in court and admitted as evidence. RP 55. In one of the jail calls the defendant discussed possibly getting out of jail in just a few months. RP 133.

The State pointed out in argument that the defendant had had his attorney for over a year and had never made any complaints about her or their communication. RP 147.

The judge denied the defendant's motion to withdraw his guilty plea. RP 155. The judge stated "[i]f we allowed a defendant to withdraw a plea simply on the kind of testimony that Mr. DeGuzman has offered, almost no plea would stand." RP 150. "And I simply don't find his statements credible and I don't find them

persuasive, and . . . in many instances they are contradictory."

RP 150. The judge stated that he saw the defendant's statements to his girlfriend as simply a defendant trying to diminish what he's done and trying to diminish the consequent that he could be in jail for over a decade. RP 151. The judge concluded:

I was the judge that saw Mr. DeGuzman the day I accepted the plea. He did not appear to me in the slightest to be someone that was under coercion, that was in fear of his attorney, that didn't think he could proceed to trial.

RP 152.

Sentencing: On November 1, 2013, the court rejected the defendant's request for a SSOSA and sentenced the defendant to an indeterminate sentence with a minimum of 144 months of confinement. CP 112.

2. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS

On May 16, 2011, thirteen-year-old AZ told her therapist that she was being molested by her mother's boyfriend, Ferdi DeGuzman. CP 4. AZ reported to police that beginning when she was about 9 years old, DeGuzman began to masturbate in front of her. CP 4. This progressed to DeGuzman trying to take AZ's clothes off, touching her under her clothes, and eventually touching

her vagina. CP 4. AZ stated that DeGuzman licked her vagina and asked her to perform oral sex on him. CP 5. AZ stated the sexual abuse by DeGuzman occurred multiple times until she was 11 years old and reported the abuse to her therapist. CP 4-5.

DeGuzman was interviewed and stated that AZ was the one who acted inappropriately by exposing her breasts to him and dancing around with her friend in a sexual manner. CP 5. He stated that AZ made him touch her and acknowledged licking her vagina. CP 7. He denied ever doing anything that AZ did not want. CP 7.

C. ARGUMENT

THE DEFENDANT'S PLEA WAS KNOWING, VOLUNTARY AND INTELLIGENT AND THE COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO WITHDRAW HIS GUILTY PLEA.

The defendant argues that the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to allow him to withdraw his guilty plea when he testified that he misunderstood that he was facing *years* in prison, rather than days. He further argues that he wanted to go to trial and his attorney pressured him to take the plea. This argument should be rejected as the record clearly establishes that the

defendant was properly advised in the paperwork and at the plea hearing of the sentence range, and the defendant himself testified that in discussions with his attorney regarding the plea offer from the State that he was facing 13 to 17 years confinement. The record also shows that the defendant was advised at the plea hearing that the plea paperwork could be torn up and he could go to trial. The trial judge who presided over the hearing found the defendant's testimony that he had not been properly advised to be lacking in credibility and denied the motion to withdraw the plea.

A defendant may withdraw a guilty plea if it is "necessary to correct a manifest injustice." CrR 4.2(f). The defendant must show that the manifest injustice was "obvious, directly observable, overt, [and] not obscure." State v. Smith, 74 Wn. App. 844, 847, 875 P.2d 1249 (1994) (quoting State v. Taylor, 83 Wn.2d 594, 596, 521 P.2d 699 (1974)). The defendant bears the burden of proving that a manifest injustice has occurred. State v. Ross, 129 Wn.2d 279, 283, 916 P.2d 405 (1996).

A "manifest injustice" exists where (1) the plea was not ratified by the defendant, (2) the plea was not voluntary, (3) counsel was ineffective, or (4) the plea agreement was not kept. State v.

Marshall, 144 Wn.2d 266, 281, 27 P.3d 192 (2001), abrogated on

other grounds by State v. Sisouvanh, 175 Wn.2d 607 (2012).

A defendant must be informed of all of the direct consequences of his plea. State v. A.N.J., 168 Wn.2d 91, 113, 225 P3d. 956 (2010).

When a trial court has exercised its discretion on a motion to withdraw a guilty plea, the reviewing court will set aside the trial court's order *only upon a clear showing of abuse of discretion*.

State v. Olmsted, 70 Wn.2d 116, 119, 422 P.2d 312 (1966).

In the present case, the defendant was fully informed at his plea hearing that the sentence range he faced was 120 to 158 *months*. RP 10. The defendant acknowledged, in his testimony at the plea withdrawal hearing, to going over the form with the prosecutor and not having any questions after the colloquy. RP 86. He acknowledged that his attorney had informed him that at trial he was facing 13 to 17 *years*. RP 70. He also acknowledged that he was aware that with the plea deal the State was offering that he was facing 13 to 17 years. RP 123.

The defendant now argues that he thought he was facing only days in jail, not months and that his attorney forced him to accept a plea rather than go to trial. It is not uncommon for a defendant to regret having pled guilty but, as the trial court stated below, "if we allowed a defendant to withdraw a plea based simply

on the kind of testimony that Mr. DeGuzman has offered, almost no plea would stand." RP 150. The trial judge pointed out that the State and the defendant's attorney were ready to go to trial and the defendant could have done that if he wished. RP 154. In fact, during the plea colloquy the prosecutor specifically stated that the plea paperwork could be torn up at that moment and the trial could proceed if DeGuzman wished. RP 18.

The defendant cited his phone calls with his girlfriend in which he discussed possibly being out in a few months as proof that he was misadvised. RP 73. However, as the prosecutor pointed out in argument, there is no evidence that his girlfriend even knew what he had been convicted of. RP 145. The defendant could easily have been trying to downplay the seriousness of what he was facing to placate his girlfriend – a not uncommon phenomenon in jail phone calls. The jail calls are not evidence that the defendant was misadvised of the consequences of his plea or denied his right to trial.

The trial court found the defendant's testimony about being misadvised as to the consequences of his plea not credible and stated that it was his belief that DeGuzman was simply regretting that he might be facing a decade in prison. RP 150-51. In a case

with similarities to the present one, the Court of Appeals rejected a defendant's motion to withdraw his guilty plea when he argued that he did not know the State was not recommending a SSOSA.

State v. Blanks, 139 Wn. App. 543, 550-51, 161 P.3d 455 (2007).

The record indicated that his attorney explained the plea in detail to Blanks and thus he apparently understood the State would not be recommending a SSOSA. Id. The trial court found the defendant's motion to be a case of "buyer's remorse" and the Court of Appeals agreed. Id. at 551.

A defendant cannot be allowed to withdraw a guilty plea simply because he later has regrets that he pled to crimes that could result in years in prison. The record in this case establishes that the defendant was fully advised of the direct consequences of his plea, including his standard range sentence, and that the plea was made knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently.

D. CONCLUSION

The defendant was advised at his plea hearing that he was facing a standard sentence range of 120-158 months. The record also reflects that he was clearly aware he could proceed to trial if he wished. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying

the defendant's motion to withdraw his guilty plea and this appeal
should be rejected.